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                 September 26, 2024 

 

VIA CERTIFIED MAIL 

RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 

 

Vikranth Michael 

Site Manager and President 

P4 Production, LLC 

Soda Springs Plant 

1853 Highway 34 

P.O. Box 816 

Soda Springs, ID 83276-0816 

Certified Mail # 7018 3090 0000 1757 6576 

 

RE: Notice of Clean Air Act Violations 

 

Dear Mr. Michael: 

 

 I write on behalf of the Idaho Conservation League and Environment America 

(collectively, the “Citizen Groups”).  This letter is being provided pursuant to Section 304(a)(1) 

of the Clean Air Act (“CAA”), 42 U.S.C. § 7604(a)(1), because the Citizen Groups believe that 

P4 Production LLC (“P4 Production”) has violated and will continue to violate the CAA, its 

CAA permit, and regulations adopted by the State of Idaho under the CAA by failing to report 

estimates of the air pollutants (including opacity) emitted during excess emissions events 

occurring at the company’s phosphate processing facility in Soda Springs. 

 

 The Idaho Department of Environmental Quality (“DEQ”) has issued a CAA Tier 1 

Operating Permit No. T1-2020.0029 (the “P4 Permit”) to P4 Production.1  This permit governs 

P4 Production’s operation of the phosphate processing facility located at 1853 Highway 34 

North, Soda Springs, Idaho 83276 (the “P4 Facility”).   

 
1 The P4 Permit has been revised from time to time, but the permit conditions identified in this notice 

have been a part of the permit at all times relevant to this notice.  Starting in 2016, the permit number and 

date of the P4 Permit history have been as follows:  No. T1-2014.0001, issued 2/11/2016; No. T1-
2014.0001, issued 11/4/2019; No. T1-2014.0001, issued 9/30/2020; No. T1-2020.0029, issued 5/3/2021; 

and No. T1-2020.0029, issued 12/23/2021 (the current version). 
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 Permit Requirements Governing Excess Emissions 

 

 The P4 Permit, at Conditions 3.10 – 3.14, contains requirements pertaining to excess 

emissions.  These provisions, in turn, incorporate sections 58.01.01.130–136 of the Idaho 

Administrative Code (“IDAPA”), which are also part of the Idaho State Implementation Plan 

adopted under Section 110 of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7410.  Condition 3.30 of the P4 Permit 

states:  “Excess emissions reports and notifications shall be submitted in accordance with 

IDAPA 58.01.01.130–136.”  “Excess emissions” are “emissions in excess of applicable emission 

standards.”  IDAPA 58.01.01.134.04(c).  An “excess emissions event” is an occurrence at the P4 

Facility during which such excess emissions are released. 

 

 Condition 3.14 of the P4 Permit states as follows:   

 

The permittee shall submit a written report to DEQ for each excess 

emissions event, no later than 15 days after the beginning of such an 

event. Each report shall contain the information specified in IDAPA 

58.01.01.135.02. 

 

IDAPA 58.01.01.135.02, in turn, specifies as follows (italics added for emphasis): 

 

Each [excess emissions event] report must contain the following 

information:  

 

a. The time period during which the excess emissions occurred;  

 

b. Identification of the specific equipment or emissions unit that caused 

the excess emissions;  

  

c. An explanation of the cause, or causes, of the excess emissions and 

whether the excess emissions occurred as a result of startup, shutdown, 

scheduled maintenance, upset, breakdown or a safety measure;  

 

d. An estimate of the emissions in excess of any applicable emission 

standard (based on knowledge of the process and facility where emissions 

data is unavailable);  

 

e. A description of the activities carried out to eliminate the excess 

emissions; and  

 

f. Certify compliance status with the requirements of [IDAPA 58.01.01] 

Sections 131, 132, 133.01, 134.01 through 134.03, 135, and 136.  
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 P4’s Violations of Excess Emissions Reporting Requirements 

 

 In the five years preceding the date of this notice, P4 Production has submitted excess 

emissions reports to DEQ, covering 773 excess emissions events, in which P4 Production failed 

to provide an estimate of the emissions released in excess of the applicable emission standard as 

required by the P4 Permit.  Each of these failures is a violation of Permit Conditions 3.14 and 

3.30 and IDAPA 58.01.01.135.02(d).  

 

 Along with this letter, we have sent you a USB flash drive which contains Excel and PDF 

versions of a Violations Table.2  The Violations Table contains information taken directly from 

these excess emissions reports submitted by P4 Production.  For each reported emissions event, 

the Table contains the following information from the corresponding report:  the date and time 

the excess emissions event started; the date and time the event ended; the duration of the event; 

the source of the excess emissions at the P4 Facility; the type of emissions event (“Upset” or 

“SSM” [startup, shutdown, or scheduled maintenance]); the cause of the excess emissions; the 

standard exceeded; the information (if any) provided regarding the amount of the excess 

emission; and the excess emissions event number used by P4 Production on its report (P4 

Production often includes more than one excess emission under the same event number). 

 

 The entries in the last column (“Information Provided on Excess Emissions”) provide the 

evidence of P4 Production’s reporting violations.  For 310 excess emission events not involving 

a violation of the 20% opacity limit, P4 Production’s excess emission reports provided no 

information regarding the type of pollutant(s) released and no estimate of the amount(s) of 

emissions in excess of the applicable emission standard(s).  That is signified in the Violations 

Table by the following entry: “No quantities reported for any pollutant.”     

 

 For 101 excess emission events involving a violation of the P4 Permit’s 20% opacity 

limit, P4 Production’s excess emissions reports provided no information or estimate regarding 

the degree to which the opacity of its emissions exceeded the limit, and no information regarding 

the type or amount of the pollutant(s) causing the opacity violation.  That is signified in the 

Violations Table by the following entry:  “No opacity percentage reported.”   

  

 For 362 other excess emission events in the Violations Table involving a violation of the 

P4 Permit’s 20% opacity limit, P4 Production used the following identical boilerplate language 

in each report:  “An estimate of the total quantity of the regulated air pollutant, measured as 

opacity, at times may be 80% to 100% opacity.”  Thus, rather than provide the required actual 

emissions data or event-specific estimate based on process knowledge (of the time period(s) 

during which the opacity exceeded the 20% limit, the amount (or range) by which it exceeded 

that limit, and the type and amount of the pollutant(s) causing the opacity violation), P4 

Production simply cut-and-pasted a uniform, pre-determined response.  This vague and 

nonspecific information is tantamount to no information at all.  While it does confirm that the 

opacity limit was exceeded, it provides no real “estimate of the emissions in excess” of that limit, 

as is required by the P4 Permit.   

 
2 The Violations Table can also be downloaded at the following link. Please let us know if you have any 

issues obtaining a copy: https://www.nelc.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/09/P4-Violations-Chart.xlsx 
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 Time Period Covered by This Notice 

 

 The Violations Table covers the excess emission reports from the past five years that 

were available as of a recent public records request.  This notice covers all violations of the 

permit requirements identified herein that occurred within the five years immediately preceding 

the date of this notice, and all similar violations occurring thereafter. In addition, the Citizen 

Groups believe that, should DEQ issue P4 Production a revised permit with comparable 

reporting requirements, P4 Production will violate those requirements. 

 

 

 If you believe any of the information in this letter or in the attached Violations Table is 

incorrect, if you believe you are complying with the excess emissions reporting requirements of 

the P4 Permit, or if you would like to discuss any other aspect of this matter, please contact me 

by email at josh.kratka@nelc.org or by telephone at (617) 747-4333 (office) or (617) 599-6979 

(cell) within 21 days. 

 

       Sincerely, 

 

 

        

 

        

Josh Kratka 

 

Additional counsel sending this letter 

 

Bryan Hurlbutt, Esq. 

Advocates for the West 

1320 W. Franklin St. 

Boise, ID 83702 

 

Addresses and telephone numbers of parties giving notice: 

 

Idaho Conservation League 

710 N 6th St  

Boise, ID 83702 

(208) 345-6933 

(Mailing Address: 

PO Box 844 

Boise, ID 83701) 

 

Environment America 

1543 Wazee Street, Suite 410  

Denver, CO, 80202 

(303) 801-0581 
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cc (by certified mail – return receipt requested): 

 

Corporation Service Company 

Commercial Registered Agent 

1305 12th Ave Road 

Nampa, ID 83686 

Certified Mail # 7018 3090 0000 1757 6606 

 

Michael S. Regan, Administrator 

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 

Office of the Administrator, 1101A 

1200 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. 

Washington, D.C. 20460 

Certified Mail # 7018 3090 0000 1757 6583 

 

Casey Sixkiller, Regional Administrator 

U.S. EPA Region 10 Administrator 

1200 Sixth Avenue, Suite 155  

Seattle, WA 98101 

Certified Mail # 7019 0140 0000 7122 9946 

 

Jess Byrne, Director 

Idaho Department of Environmental Quality 

1410 N. Hilton St.  

Boise, ID 83706  

Certified Mail # 7018 3090 0000 1757 6590 

 

Notice also mailed to: 

 

Brad Little, Governor 

Office of the Governor 

State Capitol 

P.O. Box 83720 

Boise, ID 83720 

Certified Mail # 7019 0140 0000 7122 9953 
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